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1 

 
We, the undersigned, hereby state that in the opinion of the Central Committee, the accompanying 

financial statements of Consumers Association of Singapore (“Association”) are properly drawn up so as 

to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31 March 2025 and of the 

financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Association for the financial year ended on 

that date.    

 

 

For and on behalf of the Central Committee 
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Melvin Yong Yik Chye  
President  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Hao Bo 
Treasurer  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Dexter Tay Hai Hong  
Secretary 
 
 
28 May 2025 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Consumers Association of Singapore 
(“Association”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the statement 
of financial activities, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Societies Act 1966 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(“FRS”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31 March 
2025 and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Association for the year 
ended on that date.  
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Association in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
 
Other Information 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE (continued) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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(“Association”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the statement 
of financial activities, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then 
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our opinion. 
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form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
 

 

3 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE (continued) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE (continued) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Association to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted under the Act to be 
kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance with those regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
CA.sg PAC 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
 
28 May 2025  
 
 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore      
       

Statement of Financial Position       
As at 31 March 2025       

       
       
    2025  2024 
  Note  S$  S$ 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES       
Non-Current Assets       
  Property, plant and equipment  4  1,146,501  788,864 
  Right-of-use assets  5  370,520  510,011 
  Financial asset, FVOCI  6  1,531,883  - 

    3,048,904  1,298,875 
       

Current Assets       
  Financial assets, amortised cost  7  738,667   735,900 
  Other receivables  8  1,043,452  1,257,315 
  Cash and cash equivalents  9  3,150,587  4,477,526 

    4,932,706  6,470,741 
Total Assets    7,981,610   7,769,616 
       
Current Liabilities       
  Other payables   10  869,874  897,512 
  Deferred capital grant  11  227,805  163,146 
  Lease liabilities  12  33,113  111,512 
    1,130,792  1,172,170 

       
Non-Current Liabilities       
  Deferred capital grant  11  90,939  83,333 
  Lease liabilities  12  59,245  79,958 
    150,184  163,291 
Total Liabilities     1,280,976  1,335,461 
Net Current Assets    3,801,914  5,298,571 
Net Assets    6,700,634  6,434,155 

       
FUNDS       
  Accumulated funds    6,668,751  6,434,155 
  Fair value reserve    31,883  - 
Total Funds    6,700,634  6,434,155 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE (continued) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Association to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted under the Act to be 
kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance with those regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
CA.sg PAC 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
 
28 May 2025  
 
 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore     
     

Statement of Financial Activities     
As at 31 March 2025     

     
     
  2025  2024 
 Note S$  S$ 

     
Income     
  Subscriptions and fees   1,238,775  1,194,059 
  Grants 13 3,929,967  3,385,930 
  Sales of publications  2,972  1,420 
  Other operating income 14 249,853  250,779 

  5,421,567  4,832,188 
     

Expenditure     
  Depreciation  447,174  316,619 
  Employee benefits expenses 15 3,302,216  2,993,077 
  Interest expenses  7,246  12,305 
  Other operating expenses 16 1,430,335  1,025,039 

  5,186,971  4,347,040 
Net surplus for the year  234,596  485,148 
     
Other comprehensive income     
- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI  31,883  - 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year  266,479  485,148 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore 
       
Statement of Changes in Funds 
For the year ended 31 March 2025 
       
       

  
Accumulated 

Funds  
Fair Value 

Reserve  Total 
  S$  S$  S$ 
       

At 1 April 2023 5,949,007  -  5,949,007 
      
Net surplus for the year 485,148  -  485,148 

Other comprehensive income:      

- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  -   

Total comprehensive income for the year 485,148  -  485,148 

At 31 March 2024  6,434,155  -  6,434,155 
      
Net surplus for the year 234,596  -  234,596 

Other comprehensive income:      

- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  31,883  31,883 

Total comprehensive income for the year 234,596  31,883  266,479 

At 31 March 2025  6,668,751  31,883  6,700,634  
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore     
     

Statement of Cash Flows     
For the year ended 31 March 2025     

     
     

  2025  2024 
  S$  S$ 
     

Cash flows from operating activities     
Surplus for the year  234,596  485,148 
  Adjustments for:-     
    Depreciation  447,174  316,619 
    Gain on lease modification  -     (86) 
    Bad debts written-off  3,500  - 
    Computer systems and computers written-off as IT  

expenses  16,434  - 
    Interest income  (135,156)  (131,949) 
    Interest expenses  7,246  12,305 

  339,198  196,889 

Operating surplus before working capital changes  573,794  682,037 
     

Decrease in other receivables  204,768  68,883 
Increase in other payables and deferred capital grant  44,627  131,394 

Net cash generated from operating activities  823,189  882,314 
     

Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of financial assets, amortised cost  (3,094,477)  (735,900) 
Redemption of financial assets, amortised cost  3,091,710  - 
Acquisition of financial assets, FVOCI  (1,500,000)  - 
Interest received  142,078  131,949 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (665,368)  (310,385) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,026,057)  (914,336) 
     
Cash flows from financing activity     
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (116,825)  (106,150) 
Interest paid  (7,246)  (12,305) 
Net cash used in financing activity  (124,071)  (118,455) 
     
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,326,939)  (150,477) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  4,477,526  4,628,003 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  3,150,587  4,477,526 

Consumers Association of Singapore 
 
Notes to the financial statements – 31 March 2025 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
 
1. General information 

  
 The Association (Unique Entity No. S71SS0016L) is registered and domiciled in the Republic of 

Singapore with its registered office and principal place of business at 170 Ghim Moh Road, #05-01 
Ulu Pandan Community Building, Singapore 279621. 

 
 The principal activities of the Association are those of informing, educating consumers and 

protecting their interests. There have been no significant changes in the activities during the 
financial year. 

 
 
2. Material accounting policy information 

 
2.1 Basis of accounting 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies, and the provisions of the Societies Act 1966 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association’s accounting policies. It also 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (“S$”) and all values are 
presented to the nearest dollar except where indicated otherwise. 
 
The financial statements of the Association have been prepared on the basis that it will 
continue to operate as a going concern. 

 
2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except that in the current financial year, the company has adopted all the new and amended 
standards which are relevant to the company and are effective for annual financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2024. The adoption of these standards did not have any 
material effect on the financial performance or position of the Association. 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards that have been issued are not yet 
effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  
 
The management expects that the adoption of these new and amended standards will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. 
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association’s accounting policies. It also 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (“S$”) and all values are 
presented to the nearest dollar except where indicated otherwise. 
 
The financial statements of the Association have been prepared on the basis that it will 
continue to operate as a going concern. 

 
2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except that in the current financial year, the company has adopted all the new and amended 
standards which are relevant to the company and are effective for annual financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2024. The adoption of these standards did not have any 
material effect on the financial performance or position of the Association. 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards that have been issued are not yet 
effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  
 
The management expects that the adoption of these new and amended standards will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets 

 
(a) Classification and measurement  

 
The Association classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:  
 
• Amortised cost; and 
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

 
The classification depends on the Association’s business model for managing the 
financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. The 
Association reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.  
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 
At initial recognition, the Association measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  
 
Receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Association 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component at initial recognition. 
 
At subsequent measurement  

 
Debt instruments 
 
Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, and 
listed debt securities.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a)   Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
There are two subsequent measurement categories, depending on the Association’s 
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset:  

 
• Amortised cost - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash 

flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 

• FVOCI - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and 
for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and accumulated in fair value reserve, except 
for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income, and foreign 
exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit and loss. When the 
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains and 
losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.  

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for 
debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss. 

  
(b) Impairment  

 
The Association recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the Association expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets 

 
(a) Classification and measurement  

 
The Association classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:  
 
• Amortised cost; and 
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

 
The classification depends on the Association’s business model for managing the 
financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. The 
Association reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.  
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 
At initial recognition, the Association measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  
 
Receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Association 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component at initial recognition. 
 
At subsequent measurement  

 
Debt instruments 
 
Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, and 
listed debt securities.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a)   Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
There are two subsequent measurement categories, depending on the Association’s 
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset:  

 
• Amortised cost - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash 

flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 

• FVOCI - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and 
for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and accumulated in fair value reserve, except 
for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income, and foreign 
exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit and loss. When the 
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains and 
losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.  

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for 
debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss. 

  
(b) Impairment  

 
The Association recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the Association expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(b) Impairment (continued) 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit 
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the 
default (a lifetime ECL). 

 
For trade receivables, the Association applies a simplified approach in calculating 
ECLs. Therefore, the Association does not track changes in credit risk, but instead 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 
Association has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment which could affect debtors’ ability to pay. 
 
The Association applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial 
instruments. Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.  
 
At each reporting date, the Association assesses whether the credit risk of a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 
The Association considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 
365 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Association may also consider a 
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 
Association is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Association. A financial asset 
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash 
flows. 

  
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to 
recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
Computer systems    10 years 
Computers     1 year 
Renovation and furniture   5 years 
Office equipment    3 years 
App and development    2 years 

 
Computer systems-in-progress and renovation-in-progress are not depreciated.  
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year 
end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied 
in the items of property, plant and equipment. The effect of any changes in estimate is 
accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
On disposal of an item of equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its 
carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities. 
   
Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until 
they are no longer in use.  
 

2.6 Impairment non-financial assets  
   

  The carrying amounts of the Association’s assets are reviewed at each date of the statement of 
financial position to determine whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired. If such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated.  

 
  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.  

 
  If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of 
financial activities. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(b) Impairment (continued) 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit 
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the 
default (a lifetime ECL). 

 
For trade receivables, the Association applies a simplified approach in calculating 
ECLs. Therefore, the Association does not track changes in credit risk, but instead 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 
Association has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment which could affect debtors’ ability to pay. 
 
The Association applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial 
instruments. Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.  
 
At each reporting date, the Association assesses whether the credit risk of a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 
The Association considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 
365 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Association may also consider a 
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 
Association is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Association. A financial asset 
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash 
flows. 

  
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to 
recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
Computer systems    10 years 
Computers     1 year 
Renovation and furniture   5 years 
Office equipment    3 years 
App and development    2 years 

 
Computer systems-in-progress and renovation-in-progress are not depreciated.  
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year 
end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied 
in the items of property, plant and equipment. The effect of any changes in estimate is 
accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
On disposal of an item of equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its 
carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities. 
   
Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until 
they are no longer in use.  
 

2.6 Impairment non-financial assets  
   

  The carrying amounts of the Association’s assets are reviewed at each date of the statement of 
financial position to determine whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired. If such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated.  

 
  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.  

 
  If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of 
financial activities. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise fixed deposits and bank balances. Restricted deposits are 
excluded from cash and cash equivalents. 

 
2.8 Financial liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Association becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Association determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at FVPL are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process.  
 
Derecognition  
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
2.9 Other payables 

 
Other payables are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Association and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

2.10 Funds 
 
Funds of the Association comprise mainly the accumulated funds which are unrestricted and 
expendable at the discretion of the committee in furtherance of the Association's objects. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.11 Grants 

 
Grant is recognised at its fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the Association will comply with all the attached conditions. Grants relating 
to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of financial activities over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. Grants relating to 
assets are recognised as deferred capital grants on the statement of financial position and are 
amortised to the statement of financial activities on a straight line basis over the expected 
useful life of the relevant assets. Operating grants are recognised as income in the statement 
of financial activities upon receipt. 
 

2.12 Income 
 
Income is measured based on the consideration to which the Association expects to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
Income is recognised when the Association satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains 
control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time 
or over time. The amount of income recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied 
performance obligation. 
 
(i) Subscriptions and fees  

 
Subscriptions and fees are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time 
and are recognised over the duration of the accreditation schemes and in the period 
during which the service is provided. Unearned income relating to service to be 
rendered in future periods is included in other payables.  
 
The above fees are due upon registration, and non-refundable. 

 
(ii) Sales of publications 

 
Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria for 
acceptance have been satisfied. 
 
The amount of revenue recognised is based on the transaction price, which comprises 
the contractual price, net of the estimated discounts and adjusted for returns, where 
goods are defective. Based on the Association’s experience with similar types of 
contracts, variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the 
transaction only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise fixed deposits and bank balances. Restricted deposits are 
excluded from cash and cash equivalents. 

 
2.8 Financial liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Association becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Association determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at FVPL are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process.  
 
Derecognition  
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
2.9 Other payables 

 
Other payables are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Association and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

2.10 Funds 
 
Funds of the Association comprise mainly the accumulated funds which are unrestricted and 
expendable at the discretion of the committee in furtherance of the Association's objects. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.11 Grants 

 
Grant is recognised at its fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the Association will comply with all the attached conditions. Grants relating 
to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of financial activities over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. Grants relating to 
assets are recognised as deferred capital grants on the statement of financial position and are 
amortised to the statement of financial activities on a straight line basis over the expected 
useful life of the relevant assets. Operating grants are recognised as income in the statement 
of financial activities upon receipt. 
 

2.12 Income 
 
Income is measured based on the consideration to which the Association expects to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
Income is recognised when the Association satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains 
control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time 
or over time. The amount of income recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied 
performance obligation. 
 
(i) Subscriptions and fees  

 
Subscriptions and fees are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time 
and are recognised over the duration of the accreditation schemes and in the period 
during which the service is provided. Unearned income relating to service to be 
rendered in future periods is included in other payables.  
 
The above fees are due upon registration, and non-refundable. 

 
(ii) Sales of publications 

 
Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria for 
acceptance have been satisfied. 
 
The amount of revenue recognised is based on the transaction price, which comprises 
the contractual price, net of the estimated discounts and adjusted for returns, where 
goods are defective. Based on the Association’s experience with similar types of 
contracts, variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the 
transaction only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.12 Income (continued) 

 
(iii) Sales of publications (continued) 

 
The Association generally does not have a policy to give discounts to customers. In 
very limited situations where the Association may give a discount, such a discount is 
accounted for as consideration payable to customers and are netted against revenue 
that is recognised on those goods sold.  
 
At the end of each reporting date, the Association updates its assessment of the 
estimated transaction price, including its assessment of whether an estimate of variable 
consideration is constrained. The corresponding amounts are adjusted against revenue 
in the period in which the transaction price changes.  
 
The Association has elected to apply the practical expedient to recognise the 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred where the 
amortisation period of the asset that would otherwise be recognised is one year or less.  

 
(iv) Donations and other income  

 
Donations and other income are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Association and the income can be reliably 
measured. These income are measured at fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. 

 
(v) Interest income   

 
Interest income from bank deposits is recognised using the effective interest method. 

2.13 Currency 
 
Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Association are measured using the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant 
to the Association (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the Association are 
presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Association. 
 

2.14 Leases 
 

The Association assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That 
is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.14 Leases (continued) 
 

(a) As lessee 
 

The Association applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, 
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Association recognises 
lease liabilities representing the obligations to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying leased assets. 

 
Right-of-use assets 
 

The Association recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease 
(i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised and initial direct costs incurred. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term as follows: 

 
Leasehold premise    30 years 
Rented premises    5 to 8 years 
Rented equipment    5 years 

 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy for 
impairment is disclosed in Note 2.6. 
 
The Association’s right-of-use assets are disclosed separately (Note 5). 
 
Lease liabilities  

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Association recognises lease liabilities 
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The 
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments). 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Association uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease 
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. 
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 
determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset. 
 
The Association’s lease liabilities are disclosed separately (Note 12). 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.12 Income (continued) 

 
(iii) Sales of publications (continued) 

 
The Association generally does not have a policy to give discounts to customers. In 
very limited situations where the Association may give a discount, such a discount is 
accounted for as consideration payable to customers and are netted against revenue 
that is recognised on those goods sold.  
 
At the end of each reporting date, the Association updates its assessment of the 
estimated transaction price, including its assessment of whether an estimate of variable 
consideration is constrained. The corresponding amounts are adjusted against revenue 
in the period in which the transaction price changes.  
 
The Association has elected to apply the practical expedient to recognise the 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred where the 
amortisation period of the asset that would otherwise be recognised is one year or less.  

 
(iv) Donations and other income  

 
Donations and other income are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Association and the income can be reliably 
measured. These income are measured at fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. 

 
(v) Interest income   

 
Interest income from bank deposits is recognised using the effective interest method. 

2.13 Currency 
 
Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Association are measured using the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant 
to the Association (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the Association are 
presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Association. 
 

2.14 Leases 
 

The Association assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That 
is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 
2.14 Leases (continued) 
 

(a) As lessee 
 

The Association applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, 
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Association recognises 
lease liabilities representing the obligations to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying leased assets. 

 
Right-of-use assets 
 

The Association recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease 
(i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised and initial direct costs incurred. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term as follows: 

 
Leasehold premise    30 years 
Rented premises    5 to 8 years 
Rented equipment    5 years 

 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy for 
impairment is disclosed in Note 2.6. 
 
The Association’s right-of-use assets are disclosed separately (Note 5). 
 
Lease liabilities  

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Association recognises lease liabilities 
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The 
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments). 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Association uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease 
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. 
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 
determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset. 
 
The Association’s lease liabilities are disclosed separately (Note 12). 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.15 Employee benefits 
 
As required by law, the Association makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as an expense in the same 
period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 
 

2.16 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or operational 
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is paid to the 
substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties include the Association’s members, key management personnel, associates 
and enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the Association’s members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies 
 

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the 
Association’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

 
(i) Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate  

 
FRS 116 requires the right-of-use assets for the leases to be recognised based on the 
carrying amount using the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, and the corresponding 
lease liabilities to be recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing 
rate is the rate of interest that the Association would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing 
rate therefore reflects what the Association ‘would have to pay’, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Association will obtain funding in the 
form of grants to fund the lease liabilities. Accordingly, the Association estimates that 
there is no incremental cost to fund the lease and the carrying amounts of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities approximate their present values. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.15 Employee benefits 
 
As required by law, the Association makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as an expense in the same 
period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 
 

2.16 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or operational 
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is paid to the 
substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties include the Association’s members, key management personnel, associates 
and enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the Association’s members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies 
 

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the 
Association’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

 
(i) Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate  

 
FRS 116 requires the right-of-use assets for the leases to be recognised based on the 
carrying amount using the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, and the corresponding 
lease liabilities to be recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing 
rate is the rate of interest that the Association would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing 
rate therefore reflects what the Association ‘would have to pay’, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Association will obtain funding in the 
form of grants to fund the lease liabilities. Accordingly, the Association estimates that 
there is no incremental cost to fund the lease and the carrying amounts of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities approximate their present values. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.15 Employee benefits 
 
As required by law, the Association makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as an expense in the same 
period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 
 

2.16 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or operational 
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is paid to the 
substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties include the Association’s members, key management personnel, associates 
and enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the Association’s members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies 
 

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the 
Association’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

 
(i) Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate  

 
FRS 116 requires the right-of-use assets for the leases to be recognised based on the 
carrying amount using the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, and the corresponding 
lease liabilities to be recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing 
rate is the rate of interest that the Association would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing 
rate therefore reflects what the Association ‘would have to pay’, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Association will obtain funding in the 
form of grants to fund the lease liabilities. Accordingly, the Association estimates that 
there is no incremental cost to fund the lease and the carrying amounts of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities approximate their present values. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.15 Employee benefits 
 
As required by law, the Association makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as an expense in the same 
period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 
 

2.16 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or operational 
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is paid to the 
substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties include the Association’s members, key management personnel, associates 
and enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the Association’s members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies 
 

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the 
Association’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

 
(i) Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate  

 
FRS 116 requires the right-of-use assets for the leases to be recognised based on the 
carrying amount using the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, and the corresponding 
lease liabilities to be recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing 
rate is the rate of interest that the Association would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing 
rate therefore reflects what the Association ‘would have to pay’, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Association will obtain funding in the 
form of grants to fund the lease liabilities. Accordingly, the Association estimates that 
there is no incremental cost to fund the lease and the carrying amounts of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities approximate their present values. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued) 

  
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies (continued) 

 
(ii) Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options  

 
The Association determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, 
together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably 
certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is 
reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

 
The Association has several lease contracts that include extension options. The 
Association applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or 
not to exercise the option to extend the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the extension. After the commencement 
date, the Association reassesses the lease term whether there is a significant event or 
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not 
to exercise the option to extend (e.g. construction of significant leasehold improvements 
or significant customisation to the leased asset). 

 
3.2 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
  

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 

The cost of property, plant and equipment for the Association’s activities is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment. 
Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be 
within 1 to 10 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. 
Changes in the expected levels of usage could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual value of these assets and accordingly, future depreciation charges could be 
revised. The carrying values of the Association’s property, plant and equipment are as 
disclosed in note 4.  

 
(ii) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
The Association assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all 
non-financial assets at each reporting date. Non-financial assets are tested for 
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the 
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, there is no indication of impairment and the carrying value of the 
Association’s property, plant and equipment was S$1,146,501 (2024: S$788,864).   
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4. Property, plant and equipment  

 

 

 
Computer 

systems  

 
 

Computers  
Renovation 

and furniture 

 
 
 

Office 
equipment 

 
 
 

App and 
development 

 
 

Computer 
system-in- 
progress  

Renovation- 
in-progress  Total 

 S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
Cost                
As at 1 April 2023 502,080  263,469  58,534  141,031  707,408  6,000  40,648  1,719,170 
Additions 15,000  43,915  22,730  740  198,000  30,000  -  310,385 
Reclassification 30,000  -  40,648  -  -  (30,000)  (40,648)  - 
As at 31 March 2024 547,080  307,384  121,912  141,771  905,408  6,000  -  2,029,555 
Additions 6,000  32,330  6,791  8,373  261,204  15,000  335,670  665,368 
Write-offs (9,800)  (8,655)  (687)  (5,394)  -  -  -  (24,536) 
Reclassifications -  -  335,670  -  -  -  (335,670)  - 
As at 31 March 2024 543,280  331,059  463,686  144,750  1,166,612  21,000  -  2,670,387 

                
Accumulated  
  depreciation                
As at 1 April 2023 80,757  244,251  57,982  139,150  553,768  -  -  1,075,908 
Depreciation charge for 
  the year 52,978  13,213  9,051  1,009  88,532  -  -  164,783 
As at 31 March 2024 133,735  257,464  67,033  140,159  642,300  -  -  1,240,691 
Depreciation charge for 
  the year  52,853  15,109  18,687  1,282  202,039  -  -  289,970 
Write-offs -  (694)  (687)  (5,394)  -  -  -  (6,775) 
As at 31 March 2025 186,588  271,879  85,033  136,047  844,339  -  -  1,523,886 

                
Carrying amount                
As at 31 March 2025 356,692  59,180  378,653  8,703  322,273  21,000  -  1,146,501 

As at 31 March 2024 413,345  49,920  54,879  1,612  263,108  6,000  -  788,864 
  

Additions to property, plant and equipment are acquired by way of cash.
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued) 

  
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies (continued) 

 
(ii) Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options  

 
The Association determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, 
together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably 
certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is 
reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

 
The Association has several lease contracts that include extension options. The 
Association applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or 
not to exercise the option to extend the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the extension. After the commencement 
date, the Association reassesses the lease term whether there is a significant event or 
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not 
to exercise the option to extend (e.g. construction of significant leasehold improvements 
or significant customisation to the leased asset). 

 
3.2 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
  

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 

The cost of property, plant and equipment for the Association’s activities is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment. 
Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be 
within 1 to 10 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. 
Changes in the expected levels of usage could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual value of these assets and accordingly, future depreciation charges could be 
revised. The carrying values of the Association’s property, plant and equipment are as 
disclosed in note 4.  

 
(ii) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
The Association assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all 
non-financial assets at each reporting date. Non-financial assets are tested for 
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the 
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, there is no indication of impairment and the carrying value of the 
Association’s property, plant and equipment was S$1,146,501 (2024: S$788,864).   
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4. Property, plant and equipment  
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As at 31 March 2024 543,280  331,059  463,686  144,750  1,166,612  21,000  -  2,670,387 

                
Accumulated  
  depreciation                
As at 1 April 2023 80,757  244,251  57,982  139,150  553,768  -  -  1,075,908 
Depreciation charge for 
  the year 52,978  13,213  9,051  1,009  88,532  -  -  164,783 
As at 31 March 2024 133,735  257,464  67,033  140,159  642,300  -  -  1,240,691 
Depreciation charge for 
  the year  52,853  15,109  18,687  1,282  202,039  -  -  289,970 
Write-offs -  (694)  (687)  (5,394)  -  -  -  (6,775) 
As at 31 March 2025 186,588  271,879  85,033  136,047  844,339  -  -  1,523,886 

                
Carrying amount                
As at 31 March 2025 356,692  59,180  378,653  8,703  322,273  21,000  -  1,146,501 
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Additions to property, plant and equipment are acquired by way of cash.
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5. Right-of-use assets 
 

 
Leasehold 
premise  

Rented 
premises  

Rented 
equipment  Total 

 S$  S$  S$  S$ 
Cost        
As at 1 April 2023 1,257,977  684,464  19,916  1,962,357 
Additions -  -  21,055  21,055 
Modification -  -  (752)  (752) 
Derecognition -  -  (19,164)  (19,164) 
As at 31 March 2024 1,257,977  684,464  21,055  1,963,496 
Modification -  17,713  -  17,713 
Derecognition -  (477,630)  -  (477,630) 
As at 31 March 2025 1,257,977  224,547  21,055  1,503,579 
        
Accumulated  
  Depreciation        
As at 1 April 2023 889,783  412,993  18,037  1,320,813 
Depreciation charge 
  for the year 41,932  105,618  4,286  151,836 
Derecognition -  -  (19,164)  (19,164) 
As at 31 March 2024 931,715  518,611  3,159  1,453,485 
Depreciation charge 
  for the year 41,933  111,060  4,211  157,204 
Derecognition -  (477,630)  -  (477,630)  
As at 31 March 2025 973,648  152,041  7,370  1,133,059 
        
Carrying amount        
As at 31 March 2025 284,329  72,506  13,685  370,520 

As at 31 March 2024 326,262  165,853  17,896  510,011 
 
 
6. Financial assets, FVOCI 
  

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Non-current assets    
Listed bonds 1,531,883  - 
     

The fair value of the Association’s financial assets, FVOCI, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
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6. Financial assets, FVOCI (continued) 
  

Movements in the financial assets, FVOCI are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
At beginning of the year -  - 
Additions 1,500,000  - 
Fair value gain during the year 31,883  - 
At end of the year 1,531,883  - 

 
 
7. Financial assets, amortised cost 

 
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Current assets      
Listed debt securities – Treasury bills   738,667  735,900 
 
The carrying amounts of the listed debt securities approximate their fair value as they will mature 
within 6 months from the date of the statement of financial position. They bear interest rates at 
2.76% to 3.78%. 

 
 
8. Other receivables 
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Sundry deposits   64,416  68,539 
Prepayments   28,196  46,658 
Interest receivables   27,192  34,114 
GST refundable   48,001  29,582 
Grant receivable   799,459  1,057,957 
Service fee receivables   76,188  20,465 
   1,043,452  1,257,315 

 
Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
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5. Right-of-use assets 
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As at 31 March 2024 326,262  165,853  17,896  510,011 
 
 
6. Financial assets, FVOCI 
  

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Non-current assets    
Listed bonds 1,531,883  - 
     

The fair value of the Association’s financial assets, FVOCI, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
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6. Financial assets, FVOCI (continued) 
  

Movements in the financial assets, FVOCI are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
At beginning of the year -  - 
Additions 1,500,000  - 
Fair value gain during the year 31,883  - 
At end of the year 1,531,883  - 

 
 
7. Financial assets, amortised cost 

 
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Current assets      
Listed debt securities – Treasury bills   738,667  735,900 
 
The carrying amounts of the listed debt securities approximate their fair value as they will mature 
within 6 months from the date of the statement of financial position. They bear interest rates at 
2.76% to 3.78%. 

 
 
8. Other receivables 
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Sundry deposits   64,416  68,539 
Prepayments   28,196  46,658 
Interest receivables   27,192  34,114 
GST refundable   48,001  29,582 
Grant receivable   799,459  1,057,957 
Service fee receivables   76,188  20,465 
   1,043,452  1,257,315 

 
Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and fixed deposits that are 
denominated in Singapore dollars as follows :- 

  
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Fixed deposits   2,323,707  3,152,668 
Cash and bank balances   826,880  1,324,858 
   3,150,587  4,477,526 

 
The fixed deposits bear interest at interest rates ranging from 2.50% to 3.40% (2024 – 2.50% to 
3.40%) per annum and mature within 1 month to 1 year (2024 – 1 to 7 months) from the end of 
the financial year. 
 
 

10. Other payables 
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
      
Related party   26,008  84,780 
Deferred income   490,843  454,540 
Other payables   152,351  205,303 
Accrued expenses   122,885  81,908 
Provision for unconsumed leave   77,787  70,981 
   869,874  897,512 

 
The amount owing to a related party is repayable in accordance with the prevailing terms. 
 
Other payables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
 

 
11. Deferred capital grant  
  

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
Current:      
 - not later than one year   227,805  163,146 
      
Non-current:      
 - later than one year and not later than five years       90,939  83,333 
   318,744  246,479 
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12. Lease liabilities  
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
Current:      
- not later than one year   33,113  111,512 

      
Non-current:      
- later than one year and not later than five years  59,245  79,958 

   92,358  191,470 
 
The lease liabilities are denominated in Singapore dollars. The movements of lease liabilities are 
as follows: 
 
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
At beginning of the year   191,470  277,403 
Addition   -  21,055 
Modification   17,713  (838) 
Accretion of interest   7,246  12,305 
Lease payments – principal portion paid   (116,825)  (106,150) 
Interest paid   (7,246)  (12,305) 
At end of the year   92,358  191,470 

 
 
13.  Grants 

  
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Operating grants 2,154,442  1,914,046 
Project grants 1,537,028  1,240,373 
STB project in managing tourist complaints 238,497  231,511 
 3,929,967  3,385,930 
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and fixed deposits that are 
denominated in Singapore dollars as follows :- 

  
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Fixed deposits   2,323,707  3,152,668 
Cash and bank balances   826,880  1,324,858 
   3,150,587  4,477,526 

 
The fixed deposits bear interest at interest rates ranging from 2.50% to 3.40% (2024 – 2.50% to 
3.40%) per annum and mature within 1 month to 1 year (2024 – 1 to 7 months) from the end of 
the financial year. 
 
 

10. Other payables 
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
      
Related party   26,008  84,780 
Deferred income   490,843  454,540 
Other payables   152,351  205,303 
Accrued expenses   122,885  81,908 
Provision for unconsumed leave   77,787  70,981 
   869,874  897,512 

 
The amount owing to a related party is repayable in accordance with the prevailing terms. 
 
Other payables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
 

 
11. Deferred capital grant  
  

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
Current:      
 - not later than one year   227,805  163,146 
      
Non-current:      
 - later than one year and not later than five years       90,939  83,333 
   318,744  246,479 
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12. Lease liabilities  
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
Current:      
- not later than one year   33,113  111,512 

      
Non-current:      
- later than one year and not later than five years  59,245  79,958 

   92,358  191,470 
 
The lease liabilities are denominated in Singapore dollars. The movements of lease liabilities are 
as follows: 
 
   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
At beginning of the year   191,470  277,403 
Addition   -  21,055 
Modification   17,713  (838) 
Accretion of interest   7,246  12,305 
Lease payments – principal portion paid   (116,825)  (106,150) 
Interest paid   (7,246)  (12,305) 
At end of the year   92,358  191,470 

 
 
13.  Grants 

  
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Operating grants 2,154,442  1,914,046 
Project grants 1,537,028  1,240,373 
STB project in managing tourist complaints 238,497  231,511 
 3,929,967  3,385,930 
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14.  Other operating income 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Interest income 135,156  131,949 
Secretarial fees from ASAS 47,934  48,066 
Wage credit scheme 8,934  54,989 
Gain on lease modification -  86 
Miscellaneous income 57,829  15,689 
 249,853  250,779 

 
 
15. Employee benefits expenses 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Salaries and bonus 2,672,586  2,318,239 
CPF contributions  440,328  381,703 
PA and NTUC secondment cost 75,316  209,813 
Staff welfare 22,719  26,304 
Staff training and recruitment 53,430  6,565 
Temporary staff 37,837  50,453 
 3,302,216  2,993,077 

 
 
16. Other operating expenses 
 
  These included the following expenses :- 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Assessor fees 346,918  317,058 
Events/Activities 218,770  146,784 
IT expenses 524,853  308,748 
 1,090,541  772,590 

 
 
17.  Taxation 

 
The Association is registered as a non-profit organisation and its income is exempted from tax. 
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18.  Related party transactions 
 

Key management compensation 
 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Salaries and bonus 643,908  535,032 
CPF contributions  97,444  86,609 
PA and NTUC secondment cost 75,316  209,813 
Staff welfare 3,956  3,347 
 820,624  834,801 
 
The number of the Association’s key management personnel which falls within the following 
remuneration bands is as follows: 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Less than S$50,000 3  - 
S$50,000 - S$100,000 -  5 
S$100,001 - S$150,000 5  3 
S$150,001 - S$200,000 1  - 

 
Other than as disclosed above and note 10 to the financial statements, there are no other related 
party transactions. 

 
 
19.  Leases 
 

The Association has lease contracts for its office premises and equipment. The Association’s 
obligations under these leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The 
Association is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. 
 
(a) Right-of-use assets 

 
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are 
disclosed in Note 5. 

 
(b) Lease liabilities 
 

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are 
disclosed in Note 12. 
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14.  Other operating income 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Interest income 135,156  131,949 
Secretarial fees from ASAS 47,934  48,066 
Wage credit scheme 8,934  54,989 
Gain on lease modification -  86 
Miscellaneous income 57,829  15,689 
 249,853  250,779 

 
 
15. Employee benefits expenses 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Salaries and bonus 2,672,586  2,318,239 
CPF contributions  440,328  381,703 
PA and NTUC secondment cost 75,316  209,813 
Staff welfare 22,719  26,304 
Staff training and recruitment 53,430  6,565 
Temporary staff 37,837  50,453 
 3,302,216  2,993,077 

 
 
16. Other operating expenses 
 
  These included the following expenses :- 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Assessor fees 346,918  317,058 
Events/Activities 218,770  146,784 
IT expenses 524,853  308,748 
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17.  Taxation 

 
The Association is registered as a non-profit organisation and its income is exempted from tax. 
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18.  Related party transactions 
 

Key management compensation 
 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Salaries and bonus 643,908  535,032 
CPF contributions  97,444  86,609 
PA and NTUC secondment cost 75,316  209,813 
Staff welfare 3,956  3,347 
 820,624  834,801 
 
The number of the Association’s key management personnel which falls within the following 
remuneration bands is as follows: 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Less than S$50,000 3  - 
S$50,000 - S$100,000 -  5 
S$100,001 - S$150,000 5  3 
S$150,001 - S$200,000 1  - 

 
Other than as disclosed above and note 10 to the financial statements, there are no other related 
party transactions. 

 
 
19.  Leases 
 

The Association has lease contracts for its office premises and equipment. The Association’s 
obligations under these leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The 
Association is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. 
 
(a) Right-of-use assets 

 
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are 
disclosed in Note 5. 

 
(b) Lease liabilities 
 

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are 
disclosed in Note 12. 
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19.  Leases (continued) 

 
(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 157,204  151,836 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,246  12,305 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 164,450  164,141 

 
(d) Total cash outflows 

 
The Association had total cash outflows for leases of S$124,071 (2024: S$118,455). 
 

(e) Extension options 
 

The Association has lease contracts that include extension options. The option is 
negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio 
and align with the Association’s needs. Management exercises significant judgement 
in determining whether these extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised 
(Note 3.1(ii)). 

 
 
20.  Capital commitments 
 

At the date of the statement of financial position, the capital expenditure contracted for but not 
recognised in the financial statements, are as follows :- 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Commitments for the computer system-in-progress 35,720  46,920 
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21. Financial risk management 
 

The Association’s activities expose it to minimal financial risks from its operations. The key 
financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk, primarily changes in interest rates.  
 
Risk management is integral to the Association’s activities. The management continually 
monitors the Association’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Association’s activities.  
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Association’s exposure to the 
above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of 
these risks. 
 
There has been no change to the Association’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risks.  

 
21.1 Financial instruments by categories 

 
The following sets out the financial instruments of the Association as at the date of the 
statement of financial position:- 
 

   2025  2024 
   S$  S$ 
      
Financial assets measured at  
  amortised cost      
Financial assets   738,667  735,900 
Other receivables   967,255  1,181,075 
Cash and cash equivalents   3,150,587  4,477,526 
   4,856,509  6,394,501 
      
Financial assets measured at  
  FVOCI      
Financial assets   1,531,883  - 
      
      
Financial liabilities measured at   
amortised cost      

Other payables   377,513  442,972 
Lease liabilities   92,358  191,470 
   469,871  634,442 
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19.  Leases (continued) 

 
(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 157,204  151,836 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,246  12,305 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 164,450  164,141 

 
(d) Total cash outflows 

 
The Association had total cash outflows for leases of S$124,071 (2024: S$118,455). 
 

(e) Extension options 
 

The Association has lease contracts that include extension options. The option is 
negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio 
and align with the Association’s needs. Management exercises significant judgement 
in determining whether these extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised 
(Note 3.1(ii)). 

 
 
20.  Capital commitments 
 

At the date of the statement of financial position, the capital expenditure contracted for but not 
recognised in the financial statements, are as follows :- 
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Commitments for the computer system-in-progress 35,720  46,920 
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21. Financial risk management 
 

The Association’s activities expose it to minimal financial risks from its operations. The key 
financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk, primarily changes in interest rates.  
 
Risk management is integral to the Association’s activities. The management continually 
monitors the Association’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Association’s activities.  
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Association’s exposure to the 
above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of 
these risks. 
 
There has been no change to the Association’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risks.  

 
21.1 Financial instruments by categories 

 
The following sets out the financial instruments of the Association as at the date of the 
statement of financial position:- 
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   S$  S$ 
      
Financial assets measured at  
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Other receivables   967,255  1,181,075 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

21.2 Risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in a loss to the Association. The Association’s exposure to 
credit risk arises primarily from other receivables. For other financial assets 
(including cash), the Association minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties. 
 
The Association has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties. The Association performs ongoing credit evaluation of its 
counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a collateral. 

 
The Association considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of 
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an 
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
 
The Association has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when 
internal and/or external information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely 
to be received, which could include default of contractual payments due for more 
than 365 days, or there is significant difficulty of the counterparty. 
 
To minimise credit risk, the Association has developed and maintained the 
Association’s credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their 
degree of risk of default. The Association considers available reasonable and 
supportive forward-looking information which includes the following 
indicators:- 
• Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the 
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations 

• Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor 
• Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same 

debtor 
 

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed 
if a debtor is more than 180 days past due in making contractual payment. 

 
The Association determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:- 
• There is significant difficulty of the debtor; 
• A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; and 
• It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation. 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(i) Credit risk (continued)  
 

The Association categorises a receivable for potential write-off when a debtor 
fails to make contractual payments more than 365 days past due. Financial assets 
are written off when there is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of recovery. 
 
The Association’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following 
categories: 

 
Category Definition of category Basis for recognising 

expected credit loss 
(ECL) 

 
1 Counterparty has a low risk of default 

and does not have any past-due amounts. 
 

12-month ECL 

2 Amount is > 180 days past due or there 
has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. 
 

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired 

3 Amount is > 365 days past due or there 
is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired (in default). 
 

Lifetime ECL – credit 
impaired 
 

4 There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the debtor has no realistic prospect 
of recovery. 
 

Amount is written off 
 

 
The table below details the credit quality of the Association’s financial assets, as 
well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating categories:- 
 

 Note Category 

12-month 
or 

lifetime 
ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 

ECL 
allowance 

S$ 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 
As at 31 
March 2025       
 
Other 
receivables  8 1 

12-month 
ECL 967,255 - 967,255 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

21.2 Risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in a loss to the Association. The Association’s exposure to 
credit risk arises primarily from other receivables. For other financial assets 
(including cash), the Association minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties. 
 
The Association has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties. The Association performs ongoing credit evaluation of its 
counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a collateral. 

 
The Association considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of 
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an 
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
 
The Association has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when 
internal and/or external information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely 
to be received, which could include default of contractual payments due for more 
than 365 days, or there is significant difficulty of the counterparty. 
 
To minimise credit risk, the Association has developed and maintained the 
Association’s credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their 
degree of risk of default. The Association considers available reasonable and 
supportive forward-looking information which includes the following 
indicators:- 
• Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the 
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations 

• Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor 
• Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same 

debtor 
 

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed 
if a debtor is more than 180 days past due in making contractual payment. 

 
The Association determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:- 
• There is significant difficulty of the debtor; 
• A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; and 
• It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation. 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(i) Credit risk (continued)  
 

The Association categorises a receivable for potential write-off when a debtor 
fails to make contractual payments more than 365 days past due. Financial assets 
are written off when there is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of recovery. 
 
The Association’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following 
categories: 

 
Category Definition of category Basis for recognising 

expected credit loss 
(ECL) 

 
1 Counterparty has a low risk of default 

and does not have any past-due amounts. 
 

12-month ECL 

2 Amount is > 180 days past due or there 
has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. 
 

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired 

3 Amount is > 365 days past due or there 
is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired (in default). 
 

Lifetime ECL – credit 
impaired 
 

4 There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the debtor has no realistic prospect 
of recovery. 
 

Amount is written off 
 

 
The table below details the credit quality of the Association’s financial assets, as 
well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating categories:- 
 

 Note Category 

12-month 
or 

lifetime 
ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 

ECL 
allowance 

S$ 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 
As at 31 
March 2025       
 
Other 
receivables  8 1 

12-month 
ECL 967,255 - 967,255 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(i) Credit risk (continued)  
 

 Note Category 

12-month 
or 

lifetime 
ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 

ECL 
allowance 

S$ 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 
As at 31 
March 2024       
 
Other 
receivables  8 1 

12-month 
ECL 1,181,075 - 1,181,075 

 
Excessive risk concentration 

 
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographical region, or have 
economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations 
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Association’s performance 
to developments affecting a particular industry. The Association is not exposed 
to excessive risk concentration. 

 
Exposure to credit risk 
 
The Association has no significant concentration of credit risk. 

 
Other receivables 

 
The Association assessed the latest performance and financial position of the 
counterparties, adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the 
counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant 
increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. 
Accordingly, the Association measured the impairment loss allowance using 
12-month ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds 
to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. 

 
In the management of liquidity risk, the Association monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance 
the Association’s activities and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. 
The Central Committee exercises prudent liquidity and cash flow risk 
management policies and aims at maintaining a high level of liquidity and cash 
flows at all times.     
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Association’s financial 
liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations. 

       Contractual cash flows payable  
 Carrying    One year  One to  
 amount  Total  or less  five years  
 2025  2025  2025  2025  
 S$  S$  S$  S$  
         

Financial liabilities 
  measured at 
  amortised cost 

        
Other payables 377,513  377,513  377,513  -  
Lease liabilities 92,358  98,795  37,011  61,784  
 469,871 

 
 476,308 

 
 414,524  61,784  

 
       Contractual cash flows payable  
 Carrying    One year  One to  
 Amount  Total  or less  five years  
 2024  2024  2024  2024  
 S$  S$  S$  S$  
         

Financial liabilities 
  measured at 
  amortised cost 

        
Other payables 442,972  442,972  442,972  -  
Lease liabilities 191,470  203,954  118,388  85,566  
 634,442  646,926  561,360  85,566  
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(i) Credit risk (continued)  
 

 Note Category 

12-month 
or 

lifetime 
ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 

ECL 
allowance 

S$ 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

S$ 
As at 31 
March 2024       
 
Other 
receivables  8 1 

12-month 
ECL 1,181,075 - 1,181,075 

 
Excessive risk concentration 

 
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographical region, or have 
economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations 
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Association’s performance 
to developments affecting a particular industry. The Association is not exposed 
to excessive risk concentration. 

 
Exposure to credit risk 
 
The Association has no significant concentration of credit risk. 

 
Other receivables 

 
The Association assessed the latest performance and financial position of the 
counterparties, adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the 
counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant 
increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. 
Accordingly, the Association measured the impairment loss allowance using 
12-month ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds 
to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. 

 
In the management of liquidity risk, the Association monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance 
the Association’s activities and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. 
The Central Committee exercises prudent liquidity and cash flow risk 
management policies and aims at maintaining a high level of liquidity and cash 
flows at all times.     
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Association’s financial 
liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations. 

       Contractual cash flows payable  
 Carrying    One year  One to  
 amount  Total  or less  five years  
 2025  2025  2025  2025  
 S$  S$  S$  S$  
         

Financial liabilities 
  measured at 
  amortised cost 

        
Other payables 377,513  377,513  377,513  -  
Lease liabilities 92,358  98,795  37,011  61,784  
 469,871 

 
 476,308 

 
 414,524  61,784  

 
       Contractual cash flows payable  
 Carrying    One year  One to  
 Amount  Total  or less  five years  
 2024  2024  2024  2024  
 S$  S$  S$  S$  
         

Financial liabilities 
  measured at 
  amortised cost 

        
Other payables 442,972  442,972  442,972  -  
Lease liabilities 191,470  203,954  118,388  85,566  
 634,442  646,926  561,360  85,566  
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21.  Financial risk management (continued)  
 

21.2 Risk management (continued)  
 

(iii) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk relates primarily to the risk that the value of financial 
instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes to market interest rates. Surplus 
cash and cash equivalents are placed with established financial institutions at 
favourable interest rates and terms and conditions available to the Association.  
 
The Association’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to 
interest-bearing financial assets. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
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 2024 
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Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 

 
Financial assets, at amortised cost, cash and cash equivalents, other receivables 
and other payables 

 
The management is of the view that the fair values of other financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity period of less than one year approximate their carrying 
amounts as disclosed in the statement of financial position and in the notes to the 
financial statements due to the short period to maturity. 

 
 
22. Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The financial statements of the Association for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 were 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Central Committee on 28 May 2025.
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Statement by Central Committee 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
We, the undersigned, hereby state that in the opinion of the Central Committee, the accompanying 

financial statements of Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund (“Endowment Fund”) are 

properly drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Endowment Fund as 

at 31 March 2025 and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Endowment 

Fund for the financial year ended on that date. 

 

 
 
For and on behalf of the Central Committee  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Melvin Yong Yik Chye  
President  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Hao Bo 
Treasurer  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Dexter Tay Hai Hong  
Secretary 
 
 
28 May 2025 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Consumers Association of Singapore 
Endowment Fund (the “Endowment Fund”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 
March 2025, and the statement of financial activities, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy 
information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Charities Act 1994 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”) 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Endowment Fund as at 31 March 2025 
and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Endowment Fund for the year 
ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Endowment Fund in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Statement by Central Committee 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
We, the undersigned, hereby state that in the opinion of the Central Committee, the accompanying 

financial statements of Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund (“Endowment Fund”) are 

properly drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Endowment Fund as 

at 31 March 2025 and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Endowment 

Fund for the financial year ended on that date. 

 

 
 
For and on behalf of the Central Committee  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Melvin Yong Yik Chye  
President  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Hao Bo 
Treasurer  
 
 
 
 
...................................... 
Dexter Tay Hai Hong  
Secretary 
 
 
28 May 2025 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
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and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Endowment Fund for the year 
ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Endowment Fund in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND (continued)  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Endowment Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Endowment Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Endowment Fund’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Endowment Fund’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND (continued)  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Endowment Fund’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Endowment Fund 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
There were no fund-raising appeals carried out by the Endowment Fund during the year. 
 
In our opinion: 
 
a) the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted under the Charities Act 1994 to 

be kept by the Endowment Fund have been properly kept in accordance with these regulations. 
 

b) nothing has come to our attention to cause us to believe that the funds were not used in accordance 
with the objects of the Endowment Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
CA.sg PAC 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
28 May 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND (continued)  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 
of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Endowment Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Endowment Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Endowment Fund’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Endowment Fund’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

4 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
to the members of 
CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE ENDOWMENT FUND (continued)  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
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disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 

 
 

5 

Consumer Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
     
Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 March 2025 
     
     
  2025  2024 
 Note S$  S$ 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES     
     
Non-Current Assets     

Plant and equipment 4 18,555  1,783 
Financial assets, FVPL 5 2,994,920  2,428,975 
Financial assets, FVOCI 6 4,253,639  2,959,978 
  7,267,114  5,390,736 

     
Current Assets     

Financial assets, FVOCI 6 499,790  749,549 
Financial assets, amortised cost 7 2,954,370  1,960,910 
Other receivables and prepayment 8 200,271  242,740 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 750,412  2,379,971 

  4,404,843  5,333,170 

Total Assets  11,671,957  10,723,906 
     
Current Liability     

Other payables 10 35,533  40,926 
Net Current Assets  4,369,310  5,292,244 
Net Assets  11,636,424  10,682,980 
     
     
FUNDS     

Accumulated funds  11,679,269  10,782,824 
Fair value reserve  (42,845)  (99,844) 

Total Funds  11,636,424  10,682,980 

     
 
 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumer Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
     
Statement of Financial Activities 
For the year ended 31 March 2025 
     
     
  2025  2024 
 Note S$  S$ 
     

Incoming resources     

Voluntary income     
- Donations 11 98,048  93,854 
- Grants  110,000  81,800 

Investment income 12 912,690  359,618 

Other operating income  -  5,341 

Total incoming resources  1,120,738  540,613 

Resources expended     

Cost of generating funds  23,737  27,043 

Charitable activity costs  176,335  127,338 

Governance costs  19,318  5,092 

Other operating expenses  4,903  975 

Total resources expended  224,293  160,448 

Net surplus for the year  896,445  380,165 

     

Other comprehensive income     

- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI  26,501  66,923 

- Transfer of fair value adjustment reserve on     

     redemption of financial assets, FVOCI  30,498  19,158 

Other comprehensive income for the year  56,999  86,081 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  953,444  466,246 
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Consumer Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
       
Statement of Changes in Funds 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 
       
       

  
Accumulated 

Funds  
Fair Value 

Reserve  Total 
  S$  S$  S$ 
       

At 1 April 2023  10,402,659  (185,925)  10,216,734 
       
Net surplus for the year  380,165  -  380,165 
 
Other comprehensive income :       
- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  66,923  66,923 
- Transfer of fair value adjustment reserve 

on redemption of financial assets, 
FVOCI -  19,158  19,158 

Total comprehensive income for the year 380,165  86,081  466,246 

At 31 March 2024  10,782,824  (99,844)  10,682,980 
       
Net surplus for the year  896,445    896,445 
 
Other comprehensive income :       
- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  26,501  26,501 
- Transfer of fair value adjustment reserve 

on redemption of financial assets, 
FVOCI -  30,498  30,498 

Total comprehensive income for the year 896,445  56,999  953,444 

At 31 March 2025  11,679,269  (42,845)  11,636,424 
 
 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
     

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 

     
     
  2025  2024 
  S$  S$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net surplus for the year  896,445  380,165 
  Adjustments for:-     
      Depreciation of plant and equipment  4,903  938 
      Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  -  37 
      Loss on redemption of financial assets, FVOCI  30,047  16,848 
      Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets, FVPL  (565,945)  18,466 
      Interest and dividend income  (376,792)  (394,932) 

Operating (loss)/surplus before working funds changes  (11,342)  21,522 
Decrease in other receivables  29,826  42,108 
Decrease in other payables  (5,393)  (20,258) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  13,091  43,372 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of financial assets, FVPL  -  (195,900) 
Acquisition of financial assets, FVOCI  (1,766,950)  - 
Acquisition of financial assets, amortised cost  (9,306,082)  (1,960,910) 
Acquisition of plant and equipment  (21,675)  (2,954) 
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets, FVOCI  750,000  500,000 
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  -  196 
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets, amortised cost  8,312,622  - 
Interest and dividends received  389,435  383,053 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,642,650)  (1,276,515) 
     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,629,559)  (1,233,143) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  2,379,971  3,613,114 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  750,412  2,379,971 
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Consumer Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
       
Statement of Changes in Funds 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 
       
       

  
Accumulated 

Funds  
Fair Value 

Reserve  Total 
  S$  S$  S$ 
       

At 1 April 2023  10,402,659  (185,925)  10,216,734 
       
Net surplus for the year  380,165  -  380,165 
 
Other comprehensive income :       
- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  66,923  66,923 
- Transfer of fair value adjustment reserve 

on redemption of financial assets, 
FVOCI -  19,158  19,158 

Total comprehensive income for the year 380,165  86,081  466,246 

At 31 March 2024  10,782,824  (99,844)  10,682,980 
       
Net surplus for the year  896,445    896,445 
 
Other comprehensive income :       
- Fair value gain on financial assets, FVOCI -  26,501  26,501 
- Transfer of fair value adjustment reserve 

on redemption of financial assets, 
FVOCI -  30,498  30,498 

Total comprehensive income for the year 896,445  56,999  953,444 

At 31 March 2025  11,679,269  (42,845)  11,636,424 
 
 

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be 
read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
     

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 

     
     
  2025  2024 
  S$  S$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net surplus for the year  896,445  380,165 
  Adjustments for:-     
      Depreciation of plant and equipment  4,903  938 
      Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  -  37 
      Loss on redemption of financial assets, FVOCI  30,047  16,848 
      Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets, FVPL  (565,945)  18,466 
      Interest and dividend income  (376,792)  (394,932) 

Operating (loss)/surplus before working funds changes  (11,342)  21,522 
Decrease in other receivables  29,826  42,108 
Decrease in other payables  (5,393)  (20,258) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  13,091  43,372 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of financial assets, FVPL  -  (195,900) 
Acquisition of financial assets, FVOCI  (1,766,950)  - 
Acquisition of financial assets, amortised cost  (9,306,082)  (1,960,910) 
Acquisition of plant and equipment  (21,675)  (2,954) 
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets, FVOCI  750,000  500,000 
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  -  196 
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets, amortised cost  8,312,622  - 
Interest and dividends received  389,435  383,053 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,642,650)  (1,276,515) 
     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,629,559)  (1,233,143) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  2,379,971  3,613,114 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  750,412  2,379,971 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
1. Corporate information 
  
 The Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund (the “Endowment Fund”) (Unique 

Registration no. T04CC1786K) is registered and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore with its 
registered office and principal place of business at 170 Ghim Moh Road, #05-01 Ulu Pandan 
Community Building, Singapore 279621.  

 
The Endowment Fund was established on 1 December 1994 and registered as a charity on 28 
June 2004 under the Charities Act. Its principal purpose is to fund the activities of CASE in the 
protection and enhancement of consumers’ interests. The Endowment Fund comprises donations 
and gifts accepted by CASE for the Endowment Fund as well as net proceeds from fund raising 
activities held for the Endowment Fund. Surplus funds are placed in fixed deposits and invested 
in various investments to yield stable returns for the Endowment Fund. There have been no 
significant changes in the activities of the Endowment Fund during the financial year.   

 
2. Material accounting policy information 

 
2.1 Basis of accounting 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies, and the provisions of the Charities Act 1994 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Endowment Fund’s accounting 
policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 
3. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (“S$”) and all values are 
presented to the nearest dollar except where indicated otherwise. 
 
The financial statements of the Endowment Fund have been prepared on the basis that it 
will continue to operate as going concern. 

 
2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards 

 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except that in the current financial year, the Endowment Fund has adopted all the new 
and amended standards which are relevant to the Endowment Fund and are effective for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024. The adoption of these 
standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the 
Endowment Fund. 
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 

 
 A number of new standards and amendments to standards that have been issued are not 
yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  
 
The management expects that the adoption of these new and amended standards will have 
no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. 

 
 2.4 Financial assets 
 

(a) Classification and measurement  
 
The Endowment Fund classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 
categories:  
• Amortised cost;  
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and  
• Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  
 
The classification depends on the Endowment Fund’s business model for managing 
the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial 
asset.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
The Endowment Fund reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business 
model for managing those assets changes.  

 
 At initial recognition  
 

At initial recognition, the Endowment Fund measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss.  
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
1. Corporate information 
  
 The Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund (the “Endowment Fund”) (Unique 

Registration no. T04CC1786K) is registered and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore with its 
registered office and principal place of business at 170 Ghim Moh Road, #05-01 Ulu Pandan 
Community Building, Singapore 279621.  

 
The Endowment Fund was established on 1 December 1994 and registered as a charity on 28 
June 2004 under the Charities Act. Its principal purpose is to fund the activities of CASE in the 
protection and enhancement of consumers’ interests. The Endowment Fund comprises donations 
and gifts accepted by CASE for the Endowment Fund as well as net proceeds from fund raising 
activities held for the Endowment Fund. Surplus funds are placed in fixed deposits and invested 
in various investments to yield stable returns for the Endowment Fund. There have been no 
significant changes in the activities of the Endowment Fund during the financial year.   

 
2. Material accounting policy information 

 
2.1 Basis of accounting 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies, and the provisions of the Charities Act 1994 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Endowment Fund’s accounting 
policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 
3. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (“S$”) and all values are 
presented to the nearest dollar except where indicated otherwise. 
 
The financial statements of the Endowment Fund have been prepared on the basis that it 
will continue to operate as going concern. 

 
2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards 

 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except that in the current financial year, the Endowment Fund has adopted all the new 
and amended standards which are relevant to the Endowment Fund and are effective for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024. The adoption of these 
standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the 
Endowment Fund. 
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 

 
 A number of new standards and amendments to standards that have been issued are not 
yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  
 
The management expects that the adoption of these new and amended standards will have 
no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. 

 
 2.4 Financial assets 
 

(a) Classification and measurement  
 
The Endowment Fund classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 
categories:  
• Amortised cost;  
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and  
• Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  
 
The classification depends on the Endowment Fund’s business model for managing 
the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial 
asset.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
The Endowment Fund reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business 
model for managing those assets changes.  

 
 At initial recognition  
 

At initial recognition, the Endowment Fund measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss.  
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
  
 2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a) Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
At subsequent measurement 

 
(i)   Debt instruments 

 
Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, other 
receivables and listed debt securities.  
 
There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on the 
Endowment Fund’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset:  
 
• Amortised cost - Debt instruments that are held for collection of 

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on 
a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is 
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 

• FVOCI - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements 
in fair values are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and 
accumulated in fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment 
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, 
which are recognised in profit and loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains and 
losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.  

 
• FVPL - Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do 

not meet the criteria for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are 
classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values and interest income is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises and presented 
in “other gains and losses”.  
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
  
 2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a) Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
(ii)   Equity investments  

 
The Endowment Fund subsequently measures all its equity investments at their 
fair values. Equity investments are classified as FVPL with movements in their 
fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the changes arise 
and presented in “other gains and losses”, except for those equity securities 
which are not held for trading. The Endowment Fund has elected to recognise 
changes in fair value of equity securities not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income as these are strategic investments and the Endowment 
Fund considers this to be more relevant.  
 
Movements in fair values of investments classified as FVOCI are presented as 
“fair value gains / losses” in Other Comprehensive Income. Dividends from 
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss as “dividend income”.  

 
(b) Impairment 

 
The Endowment Fund assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses 
associated with its debt financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.  

 
(c) Recognition and derecognition 

 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – 
the date on which the Endowment Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Endowment Fund has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and 
the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.  

 
On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying amount 
and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election made to 
recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive income. If there was an election 
made, any difference between the carrying amount and sales proceed amount would 
be recognised in other comprehensive income and transferred to retained profits 
along with the amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
relating to that asset.  
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
  
 2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a) Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
At subsequent measurement 

 
(i)   Debt instruments 

 
Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, other 
receivables and listed debt securities.  
 
There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on the 
Endowment Fund’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset:  
 
• Amortised cost - Debt instruments that are held for collection of 

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on 
a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is 
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 

• FVOCI - Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements 
in fair values are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and 
accumulated in fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment 
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, 
which are recognised in profit and loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains and 
losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.  

 
• FVPL - Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do 

not meet the criteria for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are 
classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values and interest income is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises and presented 
in “other gains and losses”.  
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
  
 2.4 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a) Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
(ii)   Equity investments  

 
The Endowment Fund subsequently measures all its equity investments at their 
fair values. Equity investments are classified as FVPL with movements in their 
fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the changes arise 
and presented in “other gains and losses”, except for those equity securities 
which are not held for trading. The Endowment Fund has elected to recognise 
changes in fair value of equity securities not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income as these are strategic investments and the Endowment 
Fund considers this to be more relevant.  
 
Movements in fair values of investments classified as FVOCI are presented as 
“fair value gains / losses” in Other Comprehensive Income. Dividends from 
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss as “dividend income”.  

 
(b) Impairment 

 
The Endowment Fund assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses 
associated with its debt financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.  

 
(c) Recognition and derecognition 

 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – 
the date on which the Endowment Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Endowment Fund has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and 
the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.  

 
On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying amount 
and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election made to 
recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive income. If there was an election 
made, any difference between the carrying amount and sales proceed amount would 
be recognised in other comprehensive income and transferred to retained profits 
along with the amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
relating to that asset.  



92

Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
  
Notes to the financial statements - 31 March 2025 
 

 

 
13 

  

2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.5 Plant and equipment 
 
All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Office equipment    2 years 
Computers     1 year 

 
Microsite-in-progress is not depreciated. 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial 
year end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with 
previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the items of plant and equipment. The effect of any changes in estimate is 
accounted for on a prospective basis.  

 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
On disposal of an item of equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
its carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities. 

   
Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they 
are no longer in use. 
 

2.6 Impairment non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Endowment Fund’s assets are reviewed at each date of the 
statement of financial position to determine whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. If such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is 
estimated. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of 
financial activities.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise fixed deposits and bank balances. Restricted deposits 
are excluded from cash and cash equivalents. 
 

2.8 Financial liabilities  
 

Initial recognition and measurement 
 

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Endowment Fund becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Endowment  Fund 
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at FVPL are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process.  
 

 Derecognition  
 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts 
and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
2.9 Other payables 

 
Other payables are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Endowment 
Fund and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
2.10 Funds 

 
Funds of the Endowment Fund comprise mainly the accumulated funds which are 
unrestricted and expendable at the discretion of the Central Committee in furtherance of 
the Endowment Fund's objects. 
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.5 Plant and equipment 
 
All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Office equipment    2 years 
Computers     1 year 

 
Microsite-in-progress is not depreciated. 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial 
year end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with 
previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the items of plant and equipment. The effect of any changes in estimate is 
accounted for on a prospective basis.  

 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
On disposal of an item of equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
its carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities. 

   
Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they 
are no longer in use. 
 

2.6 Impairment non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Endowment Fund’s assets are reviewed at each date of the 
statement of financial position to determine whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. If such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is 
estimated. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of 
financial activities.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise fixed deposits and bank balances. Restricted deposits 
are excluded from cash and cash equivalents. 
 

2.8 Financial liabilities  
 

Initial recognition and measurement 
 

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Endowment Fund becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Endowment  Fund 
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at FVPL are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
amortisation process.  
 

 Derecognition  
 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts 
and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
2.9 Other payables 

 
Other payables are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Endowment 
Fund and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
2.10 Funds 

 
Funds of the Endowment Fund comprise mainly the accumulated funds which are 
unrestricted and expendable at the discretion of the Central Committee in furtherance of 
the Endowment Fund's objects. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
2.11 Grants 

 
 Grant is recognised at its fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and the Endowment Fund will comply with all the attached conditions. 
Grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of financial activities 
over the period necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. 
Grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred capital grants on the statement of 
financial position and are amortised to the statement of financial activities on a straight 
line basis over the expected useful life of the relevant assets. Operating grants are 
recognised as income in the statement of financial activities upon receipt.  

 
2.12 Income recognition 

 
Income is measured based on the consideration to which the Endowment Fund expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, 
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

 
Income is recognised when the Endowment Fund satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer 
obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a 
point in time or over time. The amount of income recognised is the amount allocated to 
the satisfied performance obligation. 
 
(i) Income 

 
Donations, return from investments, fees and other income are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Endowment 
Fund and the income can be reliably measured. These income are measured at 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 
(ii) Interest income 
 

Interest income from bank deposits is recognised using the effective interest 
method. 
 

2.13 Currency 
 
Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Endowment Fund are measured using the 
currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the Endowment Fund (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements of the Endowment Fund are presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the 
functional currency of the Endowment Fund. 
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.14 Related parties  
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or 
operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is 
paid to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 

 
Related parties include the members, key management personnel, associates, and 
enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
3.1 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments  
 
A number of the Endowment Fund’s accounting policies and disclosures require the 
measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Endowment Fund uses 
observable market data as far as possible. 
 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement 
of financial position cannot be measured based on observable market data in active 
markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the discounted 
cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. 
 
The Endowment Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing at each date of the statement of financial position. Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used to estimate fair value for 
long-term debt for disclosure purposes. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. In 
infrequent circumstances, where a valuation technique for these instruments is based on 
significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are classified as Level 3. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
2.11 Grants 

 
 Grant is recognised at its fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and the Endowment Fund will comply with all the attached conditions. 
Grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of financial activities 
over the period necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. 
Grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred capital grants on the statement of 
financial position and are amortised to the statement of financial activities on a straight 
line basis over the expected useful life of the relevant assets. Operating grants are 
recognised as income in the statement of financial activities upon receipt.  

 
2.12 Income recognition 

 
Income is measured based on the consideration to which the Endowment Fund expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, 
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

 
Income is recognised when the Endowment Fund satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer 
obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a 
point in time or over time. The amount of income recognised is the amount allocated to 
the satisfied performance obligation. 
 
(i) Income 

 
Donations, return from investments, fees and other income are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Endowment 
Fund and the income can be reliably measured. These income are measured at 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 
(ii) Interest income 
 

Interest income from bank deposits is recognised using the effective interest 
method. 
 

2.13 Currency 
 
Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Endowment Fund are measured using the 
currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the Endowment Fund (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements of the Endowment Fund are presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the 
functional currency of the Endowment Fund. 
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2.  Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

2.14 Related parties  
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party when making financial or 
operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is 
paid to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 

 
Related parties include the members, key management personnel, associates, and 
enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by the members or key management personnel. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
3.1 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
Fair value measurement of financial instruments  
 
A number of the Endowment Fund’s accounting policies and disclosures require the 
measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Endowment Fund uses 
observable market data as far as possible. 
 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement 
of financial position cannot be measured based on observable market data in active 
markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the discounted 
cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. 
 
The Endowment Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing at each date of the statement of financial position. Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used to estimate fair value for 
long-term debt for disclosure purposes. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. In 
infrequent circumstances, where a valuation technique for these instruments is based on 
significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are classified as Level 3. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued) 
 

3.1 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:  
 
• Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities.  
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices).  

• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  

 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in 
the respective notes to the financial statements. 
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4. Plant and equipment 
 

 
Office 

equipment Computers 
Microsite in 

progress Total 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ 

Cost     
As at 1 April 2023 - - - - 
Additions 2,954 - - 2,954 
Disposal (279) - - (279) 
As at 31 March 2024 2,675 - - 2,675 
Additions 7,625 4,240 9,810 21,675 
As at 31 March 2025 10,300 4,240 9,810 24,350 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
As at 1 April 2023 - - - - 
Depreciation charge for the year 938 - - 938 
Disposal (46) - - (46) 
As at 31 March 2024 892 - - 892 
Depreciation charge for the year 4,196 707 - 4,903 
As at 31 March 2025 5,088 707 - 5,795 
     
Carrying amount     
As at 31 March 2024 1,783 - - 1,783 

As at 31 March 2025 5,212 3,533 9,810 18,555 
 

Microsite in progress relates to a Consumer e-Magazine which is expected to be deployed in April 2025.  
 
Additions to plant and equipment are acquired by way of cash. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued) 
 

3.1 Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 
 

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:  
 
• Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities.  
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices).  

• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  

 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in 
the respective notes to the financial statements. 
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4. Plant and equipment 
 

 
Office 

equipment Computers 
Microsite in 

progress Total 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ 

Cost     
As at 1 April 2023 - - - - 
Additions 2,954 - - 2,954 
Disposal (279) - - (279) 
As at 31 March 2024 2,675 - - 2,675 
Additions 7,625 4,240 9,810 21,675 
As at 31 March 2025 10,300 4,240 9,810 24,350 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
As at 1 April 2023 - - - - 
Depreciation charge for the year 938 - - 938 
Disposal (46) - - (46) 
As at 31 March 2024 892 - - 892 
Depreciation charge for the year 4,196 707 - 4,903 
As at 31 March 2025 5,088 707 - 5,795 
     
Carrying amount     
As at 31 March 2024 1,783 - - 1,783 

As at 31 March 2025 5,212 3,533 9,810 18,555 
 

Microsite in progress relates to a Consumer e-Magazine which is expected to be deployed in April 2025.  
 
Additions to plant and equipment are acquired by way of cash. 
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5. Financial assets, FVPL 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Non-current assets    
Listed securities 2,994,920  2,428,975 
     
The fair value of the Endowment Fund’s financial assets, FVPL, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
 
Movements in the financial assets, FVPL are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
At beginning of the year 2,428,975  2,248,883 
Additions -  198,558 
Fair value gain/(loss) during the year 565,945  (18,466) 
At end of the year 2,994,920  2,428,975 
     

 
6. Financial assets, FVOCI 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Non-current assets    
Listed bonds 4,253,639  2,959,978 
    
Current assets    
Listed bonds 499,790  749,549 
 4,753,429  3,709,527 

 
The fair value of the Endowment Fund’s financial assets, FVOCI, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
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6. Financial assets, FVOCI (continued) 
 

Movements in the financial assets, FVOCI are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
At beginning of the year 3,709,527  4,140,294 
Additions 1,766,950  - 
Redemption (749,549)  (497,690) 
Fair value gain during the year 26,501  66,923 
At end of the year 4,753,429  3,709,527 
     
 

7. Financial assets, amortised cost 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Current assets    
Listed debt securities – Treasury bills 2,954,370  1,960,910 
 
The carrying amounts of the listed debt securities approximate their fair value as they will mature 
within 5 months from the date of the statement of financial position. They bear interest at interest 
rates ranging from 2.72% to 3.00%. 
 
 

8. Other receivables and prepayment 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Related party 26,008  84,780 
Interest receivables 54,138  66,781 
Grant receivables 91,000  81,800 
Prepayment 29,125  9,379 
 200,271  242,740 
     
The amount owing by a related party is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in accordance 
with the prevailing terms. 
 
Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollars.  
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5. Financial assets, FVPL 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Non-current assets    
Listed securities 2,994,920  2,428,975 
     
The fair value of the Endowment Fund’s financial assets, FVPL, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
 
Movements in the financial assets, FVPL are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
At beginning of the year 2,428,975  2,248,883 
Additions -  198,558 
Fair value gain/(loss) during the year 565,945  (18,466) 
At end of the year 2,994,920  2,428,975 
     

 
6. Financial assets, FVOCI 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Non-current assets    
Listed bonds 4,253,639  2,959,978 
    
Current assets    
Listed bonds 499,790  749,549 
 4,753,429  3,709,527 

 
The fair value of the Endowment Fund’s financial assets, FVOCI, as at 31 March 2025 has been 
derived using the market approach of valuation. The fair value was within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
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6. Financial assets, FVOCI (continued) 
 

Movements in the financial assets, FVOCI are as follows : 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
At beginning of the year 3,709,527  4,140,294 
Additions 1,766,950  - 
Redemption (749,549)  (497,690) 
Fair value gain during the year 26,501  66,923 
At end of the year 4,753,429  3,709,527 
     
 

7. Financial assets, amortised cost 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 

    
Current assets    
Listed debt securities – Treasury bills 2,954,370  1,960,910 
 
The carrying amounts of the listed debt securities approximate their fair value as they will mature 
within 5 months from the date of the statement of financial position. They bear interest at interest 
rates ranging from 2.72% to 3.00%. 
 
 

8. Other receivables and prepayment 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Related party 26,008  84,780 
Interest receivables 54,138  66,781 
Grant receivables 91,000  81,800 
Prepayment 29,125  9,379 
 200,271  242,740 
     
The amount owing by a related party is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in accordance 
with the prevailing terms. 
 
Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollars.  
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and fixed deposits that are 
denominated in Singapore dollars as follows :- 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Cash and bank balances 130,738  1,447,060 
Fixed deposits 619,674  932,911 
 750,412  2,379,971 
     

The fixed deposits bear interest at effective interest rates ranging from 2.40% to 2.70% (2024 – 
2.55% to 3.10%) per annum and mature within 2 to 6 months (2024 – 1 to 6 months) after the 
date of the statement of financial position.  

 
 
10. Other payables 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Other payables 32,733  38,126 
Accrued expenses 2,800  2,800 
 35,533  40,926 
     

Other payables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
 
 

11. Donations 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Tax exempt donations 98,048  88,816 
Non-tax exempt donations -  5,038 
 98,048  93,854 
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12. Investment income 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Dividend income 143,841  131,915 
Bond interest income 179,102  147,671 
Treasury bills interest income 38,728  28,511 
Interest income 15,121  86,835 
Loss on redemption of financial assets, FVOCI (30,047)  (16,848) 
Fair value gain/(loss) of financial assets, FVPL 565,945  (18,466) 
 912,690  359,618 
     

 
13. Income tax expense 
 

The Endowment Fund is registered as a charity under the Charities Act and is exempted from tax. 
 
 
14. Related party transactions 
 

 There were no related party transactions during the financial year other than as disclosed in note 
8 to the financial statements. 
 
 

15. Financial risk management 
 
The Endowment Fund’s activities expose it to minimal financial risks from its operations. The key 
financial risks include liquidity risk and market risk, primarily changes in interest rates and market 
prices.  
 
Risk management is integral to the Endowment Fund’s activities. The management continually 
monitors the Endowment Fund’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Endowment Fund’s activities.  
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Endowment Fund’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks. 
 
There has been no change to the Association’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risks.  
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and fixed deposits that are 
denominated in Singapore dollars as follows :- 

 
 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Cash and bank balances 130,738  1,447,060 
Fixed deposits 619,674  932,911 
 750,412  2,379,971 
     

The fixed deposits bear interest at effective interest rates ranging from 2.40% to 2.70% (2024 – 
2.55% to 3.10%) per annum and mature within 2 to 6 months (2024 – 1 to 6 months) after the 
date of the statement of financial position.  

 
 
10. Other payables 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Other payables 32,733  38,126 
Accrued expenses 2,800  2,800 
 35,533  40,926 
     

Other payables are denominated in Singapore dollars. 
 
 

11. Donations 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Tax exempt donations 98,048  88,816 
Non-tax exempt donations -  5,038 
 98,048  93,854 
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12. Investment income 
 

 2025  2024 
 S$  S$ 
    

Dividend income 143,841  131,915 
Bond interest income 179,102  147,671 
Treasury bills interest income 38,728  28,511 
Interest income 15,121  86,835 
Loss on redemption of financial assets, FVOCI (30,047)  (16,848) 
Fair value gain/(loss) of financial assets, FVPL 565,945  (18,466) 
 912,690  359,618 
     

 
13. Income tax expense 
 

The Endowment Fund is registered as a charity under the Charities Act and is exempted from tax. 
 
 
14. Related party transactions 
 

 There were no related party transactions during the financial year other than as disclosed in note 
8 to the financial statements. 
 
 

15. Financial risk management 
 
The Endowment Fund’s activities expose it to minimal financial risks from its operations. The key 
financial risks include liquidity risk and market risk, primarily changes in interest rates and market 
prices.  
 
Risk management is integral to the Endowment Fund’s activities. The management continually 
monitors the Endowment Fund’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Endowment Fund’s activities.  
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Endowment Fund’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks. 
 
There has been no change to the Association’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risks.  
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15. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

15.1  Financial instruments by categories 
 

The following sets out the financial instruments of the Endowment Fund as at the date of 
the statement of financial position:- 

 
  Amortised              
  cost    FVOCI    FVPL   Total  
 2025  2025  2025  2025 
 S$  S$  S$  S$ 

                
Financial assets  
  measured at  
  amortised cost         
Other receivables,        
  net of prepayment 171,146  -  -  171,146 
Cash and cash          
  equivalents 750,412  -  -  750,412 
Financial assets,          
  amortised cost  2,954,370  -  -  2,954,370 
Financial assets,          
  FVOCI  -  4,753,429  -  4,753,429 
Financial assets,         
  FVPL  -  -  2,994,920  2,994,920 
  3,875,928  4,753,429  2,994,920  11,624,277 
               
     Amortised     
     cost  FVPL  Total 
   2025  2025  2025 
   S$  S$  S$ 
         
Financial liabilities  
  measured at  
  amortised cost         
 
Other payables   35,533  -  35,533 
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15. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

15.1  Financial instruments by categories (continued) 
 

  Amortised              
  cost    FVOCI    FVPL    Total  
 2024  2024  2024  2024 
 S$  S$  S$  S$ 
                

Financial assets  
  measured at  
  amortised cost                
Other receivables,               
  net of prepayment 233,361    -    -    233,361  
Cash and cash                 
  equivalents 2,379,971    -    -    2,379,971  
Financial assets,                 
  amortised cost  1,960,910    -    -    1,960,910  
Financial assets,                 
  FVOCI  -    3,709,527    -    3,709,527  
Financial assets,                
  FVPL  -    -    2,428,975    2,428,975  
  4,574,242    3,709,527    2,428,975    10,712,744  
                

     Amortised          
     cost    FVPL    Total  
   2024  2024  2024 
   S$  S$  S$ 
                

Financial liabilities  
  measured at  
  amortised cost                
 
Other payables     40,926    -    40,926 
                 

15.2  Risk management 
 

(a) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to 
meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  
 
In the management of liquidity risk, the Endowment Fund monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the 
Endowment Fund’s activities and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. 
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15. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

15.1  Financial instruments by categories 
 

The following sets out the financial instruments of the Endowment Fund as at the date of 
the statement of financial position:- 

 
  Amortised              
  cost    FVOCI    FVPL   Total  
 2025  2025  2025  2025 
 S$  S$  S$  S$ 
                

Financial assets  
  measured at  
  amortised cost         
Other receivables,        
  net of prepayment 171,146  -  -  171,146 
Cash and cash          
  equivalents 750,412  -  -  750,412 
Financial assets,          
  amortised cost  2,954,370  -  -  2,954,370 
Financial assets,          
  FVOCI  -  4,753,429  -  4,753,429 
Financial assets,         
  FVPL  -  -  2,994,920  2,994,920 
  3,875,928  4,753,429  2,994,920  11,624,277 
               
     Amortised     
     cost  FVPL  Total 
   2025  2025  2025 
   S$  S$  S$ 
         
Financial liabilities  
  measured at  
  amortised cost         
 
Other payables   35,533  -  35,533 
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15. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

15.1  Financial instruments by categories (continued) 
 

  Amortised              
  cost    FVOCI    FVPL    Total  
 2024  2024  2024  2024 
 S$  S$  S$  S$ 

                
Financial assets  
  measured at  
  amortised cost                
Other receivables,               
  net of prepayment 233,361    -    -    233,361  
Cash and cash                 
  equivalents 2,379,971    -    -    2,379,971  
Financial assets,                 
  amortised cost  1,960,910    -    -    1,960,910  
Financial assets,                 
  FVOCI  -    3,709,527    -    3,709,527  
Financial assets,                
  FVPL  -    -    2,428,975    2,428,975  
  4,574,242    3,709,527    2,428,975    10,712,744  
                

     Amortised          
     cost    FVPL    Total  
   2024  2024  2024 
   S$  S$  S$ 

                
Financial liabilities  
  measured at  
  amortised cost                
 
Other payables     40,926    -    40,926 
                 

15.2  Risk management 
 

(a) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to 
meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  
 
In the management of liquidity risk, the Endowment Fund monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the 
Endowment Fund’s activities and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. 
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15. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
15.2  Risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Endowment Fund’s financial 
liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations. 
 

   
Other 

payables  2025 
   S$  S$ 

      
Contractual cash flows:      
Not later than one year   35,533  35,533 
       
Carrying amount   35,533  35,533 

 

   
Other 

payables  2024 
   S$  S$ 

      
Contractual cash flows:      
Not later than one year   40,926  40,926 
       
Carrying amount   40,926  40,926 
       

(b) Market risk 
 
The Endowment Fund holds investments in bonds and quoted equity shares, whose 
market values are affected by changes in market prices due to changing market 
sentiments. The Endowment Fund manages its exposure to market risk by regularly 
reviewing the underlying long-term prospects of its investments and exercises 
prudent investment risk management policies that yield stable returns. 
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15. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
15.2  Risk management (continued) 

 
(c) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk relates primarily to the risk that the value of financial instruments 
will fluctuate as a result of changes to market interest rates. Surplus cash and cash 
equivalents are placed with established financial institutions at favourable interest 
rates and terms and conditions available to the Endowment Fund. 

 
The Endowment Fund’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to 
interest-bearing financial assets. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 

 
Management has assessed that the exposure to changes in interest rates is minimal 
and hence the resulting impact on results of the Endowment Fund is insignificant. 

 
(d) Fair values 
 

(i) Assets measured at fair value  
 

The table below presents assets and liabilities recognised and measured at fair 
value and classified by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:  

 
 
 

 2025 
S$ 

 2024 
S$ 

Level 1 Fair Value     
Financial assets, FVPL  2,994,920  2,428,975 
Financial assets, FVOCI  4,753,429  3,709,527 
  7,748,349  6,138,502 
     

(ii) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
 

Financial assets, at amortised cost, cash and cash equivalents, other 
receivables and other payables  
 
The management is of the view that the fair values of other financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity period of less than one year approximate their 
carrying amounts as disclosed in the statement of financial position and in the 
notes to the financial statements due to the short period to maturity. 

 
16. Authorisation of financial statements 
  
  The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Central  
  Committee on 28 May 2025.



105

Consumers Association of Singapore Endowment Fund 
  
Notes to the financial statements - 31 March 2025 
 

 

 
25 

  

15. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
15.2  Risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Endowment Fund’s financial 
liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations. 
 

   
Other 

payables  2025 
   S$  S$ 

      
Contractual cash flows:      
Not later than one year   35,533  35,533 
       
Carrying amount   35,533  35,533 

 

   
Other 

payables  2024 
   S$  S$ 

      
Contractual cash flows:      
Not later than one year   40,926  40,926 
       
Carrying amount   40,926  40,926 
       

(b) Market risk 
 
The Endowment Fund holds investments in bonds and quoted equity shares, whose 
market values are affected by changes in market prices due to changing market 
sentiments. The Endowment Fund manages its exposure to market risk by regularly 
reviewing the underlying long-term prospects of its investments and exercises 
prudent investment risk management policies that yield stable returns. 
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15. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
15.2  Risk management (continued) 

 
(c) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk relates primarily to the risk that the value of financial instruments 
will fluctuate as a result of changes to market interest rates. Surplus cash and cash 
equivalents are placed with established financial institutions at favourable interest 
rates and terms and conditions available to the Endowment Fund. 

 
The Endowment Fund’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to 
interest-bearing financial assets. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 

 
Management has assessed that the exposure to changes in interest rates is minimal 
and hence the resulting impact on results of the Endowment Fund is insignificant. 

 
(d) Fair values 
 

(i) Assets measured at fair value  
 

The table below presents assets and liabilities recognised and measured at fair 
value and classified by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:  

 
 
 

 2025 
S$ 

 2024 
S$ 

Level 1 Fair Value     
Financial assets, FVPL  2,994,920  2,428,975 
Financial assets, FVOCI  4,753,429  3,709,527 
  7,748,349  6,138,502 
     

(ii) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
 

Financial assets, at amortised cost, cash and cash equivalents, other 
receivables and other payables  
 
The management is of the view that the fair values of other financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity period of less than one year approximate their 
carrying amounts as disclosed in the statement of financial position and in the 
notes to the financial statements due to the short period to maturity. 

 
16. Authorisation of financial statements 
  
  The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Central  
  Committee on 28 May 2025.
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